I. ID NTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner is Sabrina asrnussen, whose suit for damages against 
the State of Washington was d srnissed on summary judgment. 

II. CITATION TO HE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Petitioner seeks review of Sabrina Rasmussen v. State of Washington 
et al., Case No. 67518-4-1 (Ap x. A). 

III. ISSU S PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

3.1 Does the State ave a duty to properly supervise dangerous 
offenders in accordance with the Supreme Court's holding in Joyce v. 
State, 155 Wn.2d 306, 119 P.3 825 (2005)? 

3.2 Does the State have a duty to protect third parties and 
particularly children from the oreseeable risk of harm when releasing sex

V. ARGUMENT 

Review should be a cepted in this case because under RAP 

13.4(b), considerations 1 2, d 4 apply. First, the decision of Division 
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One is in conflict with decision of the Supreme Court and itself. Second, 

this petition involves an issue f substantial public interest that should be 

determined by the Supreme Co 

Despite facts supportin each element of the State ofWashington's 

negligence, the only elements discussed by the CoA in its decision are 

duty and proximate cause, whi h it determined were absent. In so doing, 

the CoA primarily relies upon the Division 2 decision in Hungerford v. 

Dep 't of Carr., 135 Wn. A p. 240, 139 P.3d 1131 (Div. II, 2006). 

However, Hungerford as inte reted by Division One is in conflict with 

this Court's holdings in Joy e and Petersen. This petition will first 

examine the issue of duty as i relates to this conflict. This petition will 

next examine the Co A's analy is of proximate cause. Finally, this petition 

will examine the substantial pu lie interest underlying this case. 

A. The Court of Ap eals' reliance on Hungerford v. Dept. of 
Corrections is in onflict with this Court's precedent and 
the basic law of ne ligence. 

The decision here is i conflict with prior Washington case law. 

The Co A relies on Hungerfor v. Dep 't of Carr., 13 5 Wn. App. 240, 139 

P.3d 1131 (Div. II, 2006) for the proposition that no duty was owed to 

Sabrina Rasmussen. The CoA quotes Hungerford as saying: 

We hold that the duty t supervise does not require DOC to 
prevent future crimes n offender might commit after his 
supervision ends even hen the offender is placed on legal 
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financial obligations sta s. DOC owes a duty to those who 
are injured during an offender's active supervision, not 
after it ends. 

Court's opinion at 12, quoti g Hungerford at 258. This is entirely 

irrelevant to the situation in t is case. It goes without saying that after 

supervision has ended the D C has no continuing duty to try to take 

control. It is axiomatic that the DOC has lost control. 

If the DOC could hav prevented a dangerous offender from re-

entering society as in Petersen v. State, 100 Wn.2d 421, however, then it 

has the duty to reasonably exe cise the control that it has. In Petersen the 

patient had been released fro supervision and then caused the damage. 

The Petersen court did not ask hether the take-charge relationship was in 

effect at the time the plaintiff suffered harm-it simply concerned itself 

with the control that the psyc iatrist could have exercised, but did not. 

The releasing psychologist wa therefore found liable. 

Here, the DOC had th duty to inform the Court that Adhahn had 

violated every condition of his judgment and sentence. The DOC had the 

duty to stay in touch with ICE CP 214, CP 216. The DOC had the duty 

to inform law enforcement w en its offender was violating the law, such 

as when he was a felon in ossession, or failing to register as a sex 

offender. It breached these d ties. If Hungerford stands for the opposite, 

then it is contrary to Petersen. 
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Notwithstanding this, t e CoA concluded its discussion of duty 

with the non-controversial st tement: "[W]e hold that after the court 

terminated supervision, DOC did not have a take charge duty under 

Restatement Second of Torts." Rasmussen, at 14. Petitioner never argued 

to the contrary. Instead, Petifoner merely argued that the DOC is liable 

for prematurely releasing Adh hn from supervision, and for any injury he 

caused after his premature rele se into the community. 

In the law of neglig nee, a duty of care "is defined as 'an 

obligation, to which the law wi 1 give recognition and effect, to conform to 

a particular standard of conduc toward another.' " Transamerica Title Ins. 

Co. v. Johnson, 103 Wn.2d 409, 413, 693 P.2d 697 (1985) (quoting 

WILLIAM L. PROSSER, HA DBOOK OF THE LAW OF TORTS § 53, 

at 331 (3d ed.1964)). The d ty of care question implicates three main 

issues-"its existence, its mea ure, and its scope." DAN B. DOBBS, THE 

LAW OF TORTS § 226, at 5 8 (2000) see also, Affiliated FM Ins. Co. v. 

LTK Consulting Services, Inc, 170 Wn.2d 442, 449-450, 243 P.3d 521, 

525 - 526 (20 1 0). The Court o Appeals collapses all of the issues of duty, 

adds an element of caus tion into its duty analysis, and also 

misapprehends Petitioner's cla·m. This is error. 

In a negligence action in determining whether a duty is owed to 

the plaintiff, a court must not only decide who owes the duty, but also to 
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whom the duty is owed, and w at is the nature of the duty owed. Wick v. 

Clark County, 86 Wn.App. 376 385, 936 P.2d 1201 (1997). The answer to 

the second question defines the class protected by the duty and the answer 

to the third defines the standa d of care. !d. at 386, 936 P.2d 1201. The 

class protected generally incl des anyone foreseeably harmed by the 

defendant's conduct. Friend, 118 Wn.2d at 484, 824 P.2d 483. 

To decide if the law i poses a duty of care, and to determine the 

duty's measure and scope, cou s weigh "considerations of 'logic, common 

sense, justice, policy, and pre edent.' " Snyder v. Med. Serv. Corp. of E. 

Wash., 145 Wn.2d 233, 243, 5 P.3d 1158 (2001) (quoting Lords v. N 

Auto. Corp., 75 Wn.App. 589, 96, 881 P.2d 256 (1994)). 

"The concept of duty · s a reflection of all those considerations of 

public policy which lead the la to conclude that a 'plaintiffs interests are 

entitled to legal protection ag inst the defendant's conduct.' " Taylor v. 

Stevens County, Ill Wn.2d 1 9, 168,759 P.2d 447 (1988) (quoting W. 

PAGE KEETON, ET AL., P OSSER AND KEETON ON TORTS § 53, 

at 357 (5th ed.1984)). Courts i Washington using their judgment, balance 

the interests at stake. See, e.g., Hunsley v. Giard, 87 Wn.2d 424, 435, 553 

P .2d 1096 (1976) (balancing he interests and holding that the defendant 

owed the plaintiff "a duty t avoid the negligent infliction of mental 

distress"). 
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Here, the Court of A peals' erroneous analysis begins with its 

misstatement of Petitioner's cl im. It asserts that: 

Rasmussen contends OC had a duty to protect her from 
the forseeable danger posed by Adhahn after the court 
terminated supervision on July 8, 1997. 

Opinion at 10. This is not what Ms. Rasmussen claims. Rather, Ms. 

Rasmussen asserts that the D C, like the psychiatrist in Petersen v. State, 

100 Wn.2d 421, had a duty to xercise care to control the third party to the 

extent the actor, here the OC, had the ability to exercise control. 

RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS, section 315. 

The DOC had the abirty to exercise the same level of control as 

the psychiatrist in Petersen by informing the court of the numerous 

violations and continuing dan erousness of Adhahn. When directly asked 

whether Adhahn had commit ed any new crimes, the DOC, through the 

prosecutor it had lied to, deni d any new crimes and also failed to report 

the numerous other violation of the conditions of supervision. In fact, 

Adhahn had violated every co dition of supervision. The question then is 

not whether the DOC had a d ty to do anything after supervision had been 

terminated, but rather to do hat was in its power to prevent supervision 

from being terminated. Only by reformulating the question of duty in a 

manner inconsistent with etitioner's claims and relying on an 
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interpretation of Hungerford c ntrary to Petersen, did the CoA conclude 

that the State did not have a du y to Sabrina Rasmussen. 

By failing to exercise t e control that it had over the offender, the 

DOC permitted Adhahn to be eleased, like the offender in Petersen, and 

thereafter commit a crime, the idnap and rape of Sabrina Rasmussen. No 

reasonable argument can be ade that the DOC did not have the duty to 

exercise the level of control t at it lawfully had. It is irrelevant to the 

issue of duty when the injury ubsequently occurred. Rather, the analysis 

is whether the DOC owed a du y, and to whom did it owe the duty. It was 

more than foreseeable that an untreated child rapist would rape another 

child. That the injury happen d two years after Adhahn's release into the 

community is an irrelevant c nsideration when discussing whether the 

DOC had a duty during the ti e Adhahn was under its supervision. 

Similarly, in Bishop v. Miche, 137 Wn.2d 518, 527-528, 973 P.2d 

465, 470 (1999), this Court no ed, 

In contrast, the court h re directed that Miche be placed on 
probation with the Ki g County District Court Probation 
Department and abide by all terms, conditions, rules and 
regulations of the pr bation department. The probation 
officer in this case the efore had the authority and the duty 
to supervise Miche an report to the court if he failed to 
comply with "all terms conditions, rules and regulations of 
the Probation Depart ent" during his two-year probation 
period. 
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Id. at 527. Contrary to this, th CoA held that if a CCO fails to inform the 

court of the violations and th supervision is then terminated due to the 

lack of information provided o the court, the State is immunized by the 

very negligent act of failing t inform the court of the violations. Such a 

holding defies logic, the duty t at is imposed, and the law of this state. 

B. Division One's olding on proximate cause contradicts 
Precedent. 

The Court of Appeals' error continues under the heading called 

"proximate cause." Under t is heading, this CoA assesses whether the 

Petitioner submitted sufficien evidence to support her negligence claim 

on the issue of proximate ca se. In the analysis, the CoA committed a 

variety of errors, including im roperly deciding contested facts in favor of 

the DOC, and making several rroneous conclusions of law contrary to the 

Supreme Court's most recen decision on proximate cause in negligent 

supervision cases, Joyce v. ept. of Corrections, 155 Wn.2d 306. This 

Court should review and corre t these errors. 

"To establish cause in act, a claimant must establish that the harm 

suffered would not have oc urred but for an act or omission of the 

defendant. There must be a d rect, unbroken sequence of events that link 

the actions of the defendant a d the injury to the plaintiff." Joyce at 322. 

Washington courts have hel that cause in fact can be established by 
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expert testimony, as m Joy e, where the plaintiff relied only on the 

testimony of William Stou , a corrections expert. !d. Mr. Stough's 

testimony was held sufficient o establish that but for the State's failure to 

obtain a bench warrant, the o fender in Joyce would have been unable to 

harm the plaintiffbecause he ould have been in jail. !d. at 322-23. Cause 

in fact in a take-charge case an thus be established by expert testimony 

that the State's negligence c used the injury. Estate of Bardon ex ref. 

Anderson v. State, Dept. of orrections, 122 Wn. App. 227, 243-44, 95 

P.3d 764 (2004) (citing Joyce) 

The CoA here begins i s analysis by making a startlingly assertion 

of fact that was heavily con ested, and should be resolved in favor of 

Sabrina Rasmussen. On sum ary judgment, all facts and all reasonable 

inferences are to be viewed i the light most favorable to the nonmoving 

party. Sherman v. State, 128 n.2d 164, 183, 905 P.2d 355 (1995). The 

CoA nonetheless states, "Th re is no dispute that Adhahn successfully 

completed sex offender treat ent and the court terminated supervision." 

Opinion at 17 (emphasis add d)! In fact, Adhahn did not successfully 

complete sex offender treatm nt because he never even began the type of 

treatment ordered by the Co rt. Moreover, the treatment provider was 

unaware of the multiple violat ons of which Adhahn's CCO was aware but 

1 This assertion by the Court of App als is important to point out because it demonstrates 
that the Court did not view the evide ce in a light most favorable to Sabrina Rasmussen. 
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never shared with the treatme t provider. Thus, the treatment provider 

reported that Adhahn had su cessfully completed treatment when the 

actual facts show that, had th ceo been non-negligent, he should have 

instead been terminated from t e program. 

The sex offender eval ator advised that Adhahn needed not only 

group therapy but also intens ve individual therapy. CP247-257. The 

Judgment and Sentence req ired "inpatient" sex offender treatment. 

Adhahn received neither. R ther, he received the sort of generalized 

group therapy specifically con luded to be insufficient. 

The CoA's opinion rna es it appear as if the sentencing judge was 

fully informed when she relea ed the untreated, alcoholic, pedophile back 

into the community, but the acts show that DOC never informed the 

Superior Court of the numer us violations of the conditions of release. 

For instance, when the courts ecifically asked the DOC to reveal whether 

Mr. Adhahn had been convict d of any crimes, the DOC kept secret the 

intimidation with a weapon ch rge. And while the CoA's opinion glosses 

over that fact, it is a material is ue. 

Adhahn was forbidde under the terms of the Judgment and 

Sentence from possessmg a firearm. He was also prohibited from 

committing any further law iolations. When in 1992 Adhahn chased 

people down the streets ofTac rna with a weapon that he was forbidden to 
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possess, he violated both CP 258-268, CP 353-355. 

Additionally, the conduct too place outside of a bar. Adhahn was 

forbidden from drinking alco Indeed, Mr. Comte had accurately 

predicted that Adhahn would ecome violent when using alcohol. The 

CoA should have found the ab ve facts on summary judgment. 

The opinion next disc sses at some length the idea that Adhahn 

would not have been incarce ated on the original charge at the time 

Sabrina Rasmussen was kidna ped and raped. In doing so, the CoA again 

misapprehends Petitioner's ar ment. The DOC admits, as it must, that 

the evidence on summary jud ent was that the Superior Court Judge 

would have revoked the suspe ded sentence and imposed some period of 

confinement. The CoA emph sizes in its opinion that Adhahn would not 

have been placed into DOC cu tody when he was then incarcerated. This 

misses the point. 

Had Adhahn received even one day in prison or jail, then ICE 

would have been notified of h s alien status pursuant to RCW 10. 70.140. 

See footnote 11 ofthe Rasmus en Opinion at 19. On summary judgment, 

and as a matter of law, a cou must presume that the various agencies 

would have performed the duties that they were charged with performing. 

Smith v. Hollenbeck, 48 Wn.2 461, 465, 294 P.2d 921 (1956); State ex 

ref. Longview Fire Fighters Union, Local 828, J.A.F.F. v. City of 

15 



Longview, 65 Wn.2d 568, 57 , 399 P.2d 1, 3 (1965). Had Adhahn been 

reported to Immigration & Na uralization Services ("INS") for his original 

incest conviction and weapo brandishing in 1992, he would have been 

subject to removal proceeding . CP 504-505. 

The undisputed facts i this case demonstrate that when the federal 

government learned of A hahn's incest and gun convictions, it 

incarcerated Adhahn and beg n removal proceedings. CP 444-44 7. The 

CoA ignores these facts and i stead ruled that "as a matter of law, neither 

the conviction in 1990 for inc st in the first degree, the 1992 misdemeanor 

conviction, nor the failure t register as a sex offender would have 

subjected Adhahn to deportati n." Opinion at 19. This is simply wrong.2 

See, e.g., Gonzalez-Alvarado v. INS, 39 F.3d 245, 246 -247 (9th Cir. 

1994) (interpreting Washingt n's incest statute to be a crime of moral 

turpitude); Lopez-Amaro v. .NS., 25 F.3d 986, 989 (11th Cir. 1994) 

(pursuant to section 241 ( a)(2) C) of the INA any alien who is convicted of 

using a firearm in violation o any law is deportable). Not only does case 

law clearly demonstrate that Adhahn's incest and intimidation with a 

weapon convictions were de ortable offenses until 1997 as a matter of 

law, Petitioner's expert, Mr. ampson, submitted a declaration accurately 

2 In addition to being wrong, this ass rtion is irrelevant since deportation proceedings 
were started and Adhahn testified th t he would not have challenged such deportation 
proceedings. 
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citing the law that would have led to removal proceedings. Mr. Sampson 

also opined that Adhahn would have been incarcerated during the removal 

proceedings and therefore wou d not have been in the community on the 

day that he kidnapped and vici usly raped Sabrina Rasmussen. CP 216. 

Both the CoA and the rial court completely ignored not only the 

law that then existed, but also the evidence that Petitioner submitted by 

way of expert testimony dem nstrating that Adhahn would have been 

incarcerated in May of 2000 r ther than lurking near a school to abduct 

and rape Sabrina Rasmussen. CP 216, CP 504-505. 

It is worth quoting the asis for the 2007 detention document dated 

July 11, 2007, which states: 

"ADHAHN was order d to appear before an immigration 
judge because he was ubject to removal from the United 
States because he was convicted to two crimes involving 
moral turpitude." 

CP 282-283. At this time Ad ahn's only two convictions were for incest 

and weapons. Thus, when the oA held that "as a matter of law, neither 

the conviction in 1990 for incest in the first degree, the 1992 

misdemeanors conviction nor ailure to register as a sex offender would 

have subjected Adhahn to depo ation," the CoA was in error. 

Further, the CoA erron ously states that Mr. Sampson "admits that 

Adhahn was not subject to eportation for the 1990 incest charge." 
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Opinion at 19. This is inaccu ate. Mr. Sampson did admit that the incest 

conviction alone was not eno gh to deport Mr. Adhahn until after 1996 

when the law was amended. By the time Judge Karen Strombom asked 

the State directly whether the e had been any other convictions, however, 

the incest charge had becom retroactively sufficient to be a deportable 

offense by itself. By 1997, dhahn had two convictions that could have 

resulted in removal proceedin s. 

The CoA goes on to claim that the failure to register as a sex 

offender did not constitute a s parate basis for removal. The Court relies 

on Pannu v. Holder, a 2011 case that changed the previously law that 

failure to register subjected al" ens to removal. 3 Because the law in 1997 

permitted ICE to remove Adh hn based on his failure to register as a sex 

offender, the change in the la 14 years later is irrelevant. Thus, the CoA 

has committed a further error flaw by concluding that such conduct does 

not constitute a deportable off! nse. 

There is sufficient evi ence in this record from which a reasonable 

jury could conclude that had the DOC not been negligent, on May 31, 

2000 Ms. Rasmussen would ave simply walked into her school because 

3 
Pannu v. Holder 639 F.3d 1225, 1 27 (91

h Cir. 2011)("The law impacting this case has 
changed considerably since the BIA' decision. Shortly before we remanded to the BIA in 
the previous appeal, the BIA issued precedential decision, In re Tobar-Lobo, 24 I. & N. 
Dec. 143 (BIA 2007), which held th t a failure to register as a sex offender in violation of 
California Penal Code§ 290(g)(1) c tegorically constituted a CIMT." 
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her rapist would have either be n in Thailand or sitting in jail waiting for 

his removal proceedings to co elude. Because of the State's negligence, 

Ms. Rasmussen was kidnappe and viciously raped. This case should 

have been left to the jury beca se of the significant issues of material fact 

discussed above. It was error a d contrary to established Washington law 

to find that no proximate cause 

C. The Court of A peals holding creates a policy that 
encourages State n gligence. 

The Court of Appeals' holding has terrible policy implications. 

Under the CoA's opinion, if offender commits a crime after release 

from DOC control, the State h s no duty regardless of any prior breaches 

of its duty and regardless of t e lack of any intervening factors. This 

creates a perverse incentive fo the State to negligently release convicted 

criminals back into the comm nity as soon as possible so as to avoid 

liability for its own failure to ad quately supervise those same individuals. 

It is established from th facts of this case that had the State non-

negligently supervised Terapon Adhahn, he would not have been loose in 

the community on kidnapped and viciously raped Sabrina 

Rasmussen. This is because a y non-negligent supervision would have 

caught the remarkable numbe of violations that went unreported, and 

more likely than not, Adhahn ould have already been deported or sitting 
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in a jail cell awaiting deportat on. Yet under the Co A's ruling, the instant 

Adhahn was released from s ervision, all liability for the State's many 

prior supervisory failures sim y disappears. 

The CoA's erroneous hardline rule cutting off liability at the 

moment of release is severel detrimental to Washington children who 

suffer predation at the hands o a known pedophile. There is no difference

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