RECEIVED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
Dec 24, 2013, 12:24 pm  
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER  
CLERK

E CRJ  
RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

NO. 89662-3

---

**SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

---

SABRINA RASMUSSEN,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Defendant/Respondent.

---

**ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

---

ROBERT W. FERGUSON  
Attorney General

ERIC A. MENTZER  
WSBA #21243  
Assistant Attorney General  
PO Box 40126  
Olympia, WA 98504-0126  
(360) 586-6300  
OID #91023  
EricM@atg.wa.gov

 ORIGINAL

**

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

## V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

This Court should deny review because the Court of Appeals' opinion below applied settled case law in reaching its decision. Plaintiff failed to demonstrate the existence of a legal duty. Duty of care is a question of law. *Osborn v. Mason County*, 157 Wn.2d 18, 23, 134 P.3d 197 (2006). Plaintiff attempts to reframe the issue of duty by arguing that "DOC is liable for prematurely releasing Adhahn from supervision . . . ." Pet. for Review at 8. However, DOC had neither the ability nor the legal authority to "release Adhahn from supervision" – that was exclusively the role of the sentencing court.<sup>2</sup>

Fatal to Plaintiff's claim is the fact that the sentencing court could not have extended Adhahn's supervision period, for, as discussed in more detail below, Adhahn had already served a longer supervision period than the law allowed. Plaintiff's request to expand the duty to control the actions of offenders after DOC supervision ends has already been properly rejected by the courts in this state. Likewise, Plaintiff failed to demonstrate proximate cause in any event. For these reasons, the Court should deny Plaintiff's petition.

---

<sup>2</sup> Because termination of supervision was within the exclusive province of Adhahn's sentencing court, Plaintiff's policy argument that the decision below will encourage DOC to release offenders early in order to avoid liability (Pet. for Review at 19), is wholly unsupported.

**A. Plaintiff Failed To Establish That DOC Owed Her A Duty As That Duty Is Defined By Washington Precedent, Therefore Review Is Not Supported By RAP 13.4**

The Court of Appeals followed settled case law in concluding that Plaintiff failed to demonstrate a duty as a matter of law. First, “the State is not liable for its negligent conduct even where a duty does exist unless the duty was owed to the injured person and not merely the public in general.” *Sheikh v. Choe*, 156 Wn.2d 441, 448, 128 P.3d 574 (2006). Second, “[a]s a general rule, our common law imposes no duty to prevent a third person from causing physical injury to another.” *Id.* And it is beyond dispute that DOC did not directly cause the harm to Ms. Rasmussen – her attacker was Terapon Adhahn.

Courts in Washington have held that DOC owes no duty to potential future victims after an offender’s supervision ends. *Hungerford v. Dep’t of Corr.*, 135 Wn. App. 240, 258, 139 P.3d 1131 (2006); *see also Couch v. State*, 113 Wn. App. 556, 54 P.3d 197 (2002), *review denied*, 69 P.3d 874 (2003). In fact, Plaintiff agrees with that proposition. *See* Pet. For Review at 8.

Regardless of Plaintiff’s concession, the Court of Appeals in *Hungerford* was unequivocal that DOC’s duty ends when supervision ends. “. . . DOC did not owe a duty to [plaintiff] after DOC’s take charge relationship with [the offender] ended.” *Id.* at 258 (emphasis added).



That holding is derived from prior holdings of this Court. *See Taggart v. State*, 118 Wn.2d 195, 218, 822 P.2d 243 (1992); *Hertog v. City of Seattle*, 138 Wn.2d 265, 979 P.2d 400 (1999).

Furthermore, the *Hungerford* court explained its holding as follows:

We hold that the duty to supervise does not require DOC to prevent future crimes an offender might commit after his supervision ends even when the offender is placed on LFO status. DOC owes a duty to those who are injured during, not after, an offender's active supervision ends.

*Id.* at 258. The court's holding in *Hungerford* is not contrary to *Petersen v. State*, 100 Wn.2d 421, 671 P.2d 230 (1983), as Plaintiff continues to suggest, nor is the Court of Appeals' Opinion below contrary to *Petersen*.

The facts in *Peterson* involved a psychiatrist's release of a patient while knowing that the patient posed a danger and a resulting accident that occurred only five days after that release. *Peterson*, 100 Wn.2d at 424. Later, in *Taggart*, this Court addressed both *Petersen* and the *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 315 (1965) in its discussion on the issue of duty. That discussion demonstrates the legal consistency between the courts' analyses in *Hungerford*, *Couch*, *Peterson*, and *Taggart*.

In *Taggart*, this Court confronted the issue of whether DOC owed a duty of care to members of the public injured by parolees based upon the relationship between a parole officer and the offender under supervision.

*Taggart*, 118 Wn.2d at 217. This Court began its analysis by noting that Washington precedent normally precludes liability for breach of a duty that is owed to the public at large. *Id.*

This Court then focused its analysis on *Petersen* and the *Restatement (Second) of Torts*. *Taggart*, 118 Wn.2d at 218. This Court extended the special relationship exception that it had applied in *Petersen* (which was based upon the *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 315) to the situations where DOC is supervising offenders. *Taggart*, 118 Wn.2d at 219.

However, in doing so, this Court specifically limited the imposition of a duty to cases involving a “definite, established and continuing relationship between the defendant and the third party [offender].” *Id.* at 219 (citing *Honcoop v. State*, 111 Wn.2d 182, 193, 759 P.2d 1188 (1988)). And, importantly, this Court found that the duty to exercise reasonable care to control a dangerous offender arises under § 319’s definition of a special relationship, not simply under § 315 as in *Peterson*.

Section 319 is most relevant in the present case: “One who takes charge of a third person whom he knows or should know to be likely to cause bodily harm to others if not controlled is under a duty to exercise reasonable care to control the third person to prevent him from doing such harm.” *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 319 (1965).

*Taggart*, 118 Wn.2d at 219. This Court then described the various features of why parole officers have “taken charge” of parolees, starting with the parole officers’ statutory authority. *Id.* This Court further described that the “take charge” relationship existed because of the ability to regulate a parolee’s movements, impose special conditions, and ensure the parolee obeys the conditions. *Id.* at 219-20. “Because of these factors, we hold that parole officers have ‘taken charge’ of the parolees they supervise for purposes of § 319.” *Taggart*, 118 Wn.2d at 220. Since all of those “take charge” abilities necessarily end as a matter of law after supervision terminates, so, too, must the duty end.<sup>3</sup>

The *Couch* court applied that same analysis and reached the same conclusion when it held that the conditions of supervision determined whether DOC had “taken charge” of the offender and had a duty to prevent the crime by the offender. *Couch*, 113 Wn. App. at 565. That court stated:

A community corrections officer must have a court order before he or she can “take charge” of an offender; and even when he or she has such an order, he or she can only enforce it according to its terms and applicable statutes.

*Couch*, 113 Wn. App. at 565 (emphasis added) (footnotes omitted). The

---

<sup>3</sup> Note also, however, “The mere existence of some ability to control a third party is not the dispositive factor in determining whether a take charge duty exists; rather, the purpose and extent of such control defines the relationship for purposes of tort liability.” *Sheikh*, 156 Wn.2d at 453, (citing *Taggart*, 118 Wn.2d at 220).

*Couch* court further noted, if DOC is not authorized to intervene, it cannot have a duty to do so. *Couch*, 113 Wn. App. at 569; *see also Stenger v. State*, 104 Wn. App. 393, 404, 16 P.3d 655 (2001) (absent the ability, a defendant does not have the duty to control the conduct of a third person).

Further, the same argument Plaintiff made to the Court of Appeals below was also soundly rejected in *Hungerford*:

[Plaintiff] argues that DOC breached that duty before [supervision ended], and that this breach caused [plaintiff's] death even though [the offender] was no longer under direct supervision. Although phrased as a question of proximate cause, [plaintiff's] argument also asks us to expand DOC's duty to supervise. [Plaintiff] would have us impose a general duty on DOC to report probation violations and extend probation in order to prevent crimes that may occur after active probation supervision ends. We decline to do so.

*Hungerford*, 135 Wn. App. at 257. The *Hungerford* court's reasoning, like that of the Court of Appeals below, is entirely consistent with *Taggart*.

Despite these holdings, Plaintiff requests that this Court accept review in order to further expand the duty of DOC (and every other municipality in Washington that supervises offenders) to face legal liability in perpetuity for every bad act a former offender may commit. Plaintiff's invitation to expand "negligent supervision" duty should be

rejected and review denied because it is unsupported by Washington precedent.

**B. Because Plaintiff Failed To Establish A Causal Relationship Between Defendant's Inability To Jail Adhahn And Her Own Injuries, Dismissal Is Supported By Washington Precedent And This Court Should Deny Review Under RAP 13.4**

The Court of Appeals opinion also applied settled law regarding proximate cause. Thus, even if this Court were to accept that DOC owed a duty to Plaintiff, Plaintiff's claim would still fail because she did not establish that a breach of the duty had proximately caused her injuries. "A plaintiff in a negligent parole supervision action must prove the inadequate supervision proximately caused the complained-of injuries." *Bell v. State*, 147 Wn.2d 166, 169, 52 P.3d 503 (2002). A cause is "proximate only if it is both a cause in fact and a legal cause." *Gall v. McDonald Industries*, 84 Wn. App. 194, 207, 926 P.2d 934 (1996). Plaintiff cannot prove causation.

In order to establish causation in negligent supervision cases, a plaintiff must prove that if a parole violation had been reported to the court, the offender would have been incarcerated up to and including the date that the plaintiff was injured. *Bell*, 147 Wn.2d at 179. Therefore, even if Plaintiff offered evidence that the offender here violated conditions of supervision, Plaintiff must still prove that reporting the violation would

have prevented the offender from being able to cause her harm. She failed to offer such evidence.

In point of fact, *as a matter of law*, Adhahn's sentencing court could have done nothing that would have removed the possibility of Adhahn's assault on Plaintiff.

[E]ven if [the sentencing judge] had known more, he could not have done more; and if he could not have done more, the alleged failure to inform him bears no causal relation whatever to the harm later suffered by [plaintiff].

*Couch*, 113 Wn. App. at 573. Whatever the sentencing judge here could have done ended well prior to Adhahn's assault and thus bore no causal relation to Plaintiff's injuries.

Plaintiff offered no admissible evidence that Judge Strombom, the sentencing judge, would have revoked Adhahn's fourteen month suspended sentence based on the alleged supervision violations. In other words, regardless of the number and quality of the violations Plaintiff could have established Adhahn committed during his period of supervision, Plaintiff failed to establish that Adhahn would have been in jail as a result of those parole violations at the time he assaulted Sabrina Rasmussen in 2000, when Adhahn's supervision ended in 1997.

Contrary to Plaintiff's argument in her Petition that she submitted evidence demonstrating that Adhahn would have been incarcerated on the

day of her assault (Pet. for Review at 17), Plaintiff's proffered expert offered no such opinion. Instead, Plaintiff's expert merely opined that Adhahn "would never have been on the street at the time of the brutal rape and murder of Zinaida [Linnik]." CP 219, ¶12. Ms. Linnik's murder occurred in 2007 – seven years *after* Adhahn had assaulted Plaintiff here. CP 279.

There are no set of circumstances under which Adhahn could have been incarcerated for the 1990 incest conviction during the period encompassing both Ms. Rasmussen's assault in 2000 and Ms. Linnik's murder in 2007.<sup>4</sup>

Nevertheless, regardless of whether the misdemeanor intimidation charge in 1992 was reported to the court as a violation, the most that could have happened was that Adhahn's SSOSA sentence could have been revoked by the court and the remainder of the fourteen month suspended incarceration time imposed. App. A at 18. If those things were to happen, Adhahn still would not have been incarcerated at the time he assaulted Sabrina Rasmussen.

---

<sup>4</sup> Of course, Mr. Stough's opinions about what a judge would have done have been previously ruled inadmissible in any event. *Estate of Bordon v. State, Dep't of Corr.*, 122 Wn. App. 227, 246, 95 P.3d 764 (2004), *review denied*, 154 Wn.2d 1003 (2005) ("The trial court was thus well within its discretion when it refused to allow Stough to testify about what a judge would have done in the SRA violation hearing if the CCO had reported Jones' driving condition violation to the court. This testimony would clearly have been beyond his expertise and merely speculative.").

Stated another way, had the sentencing court revoked Adhahn's SSOSA following the 1992 misdemeanor conviction, his supervision time would have been shorter than the nearly seven years it did last and would have ended well before Adhahn's assault on Ms. Rasmussen. Revocation of Adhahn's suspended sentence of fourteen months incarceration was the most serious sanction available to the court. Consequently, Adhahn would have been in jail until, at most, twelve months after September 9, 1992 (the date he was convicted of the intimidation with a weapon charge).

*State v. Onefrey*, 119 Wn.2d 572, 835 P.2d 213 (1992) is also dispositive of Plaintiff's claim. In *Onefrey*, this Court allowed a defendant to appeal his standard range sentence to argue that the trial court erroneously interpreted SSOSA to preclude him from eligibility. *Onefrey*, 119 Wn.2d at 573-74. The trial court had determined that Onefrey would benefit from treatment and that a prison sentence would not benefit society. But, because the treatment provider recommended a treatment term of ten years, the trial court found that it could not order community supervision for enough time to treat Onefrey successfully because SSOSA did not provide for an exceptional sentence at that time. *Onefrey*, 119 Wn.2d at 573-74. This Court agreed. *Onefrey*, 119 Wn.2d at 577. This Court held: "Under SSOSA, the trial court is not permitted to fashion



conditions such that the length of time spent in treatment exceeds that provided for in the statutory language.” *Onefrey*, 119 Wn.2d at 576.

At the time Adhahn committed the crime for which he was under supervision, former RCW 9.94A.120(7)(a) provided that “the court may suspend the execution of the sentence and place the offender on community supervision *for up to two years.*” Therefore, Adhahn’s sentencing court did not have the authority to impose an exceptional sentence of five years supervision and treatment. Because Adhahn’s treatment requirement was “60 months” (*see* CP 153), as a matter of law he did not qualify for the SSOSA sentence combined with an “exceptional sentence” as ordered in 1990. As this Court in *Onefrey* noted: “If *Onefrey* could not be treated within the requisite two years, then he was outside the population that the Legislature intended to be eligible for SSOSA.” *Onefrey*, 119 Wn.2d at 577.

The result of those legal restrictions here are dispositive of Plaintiff’s claims because they conclusively establish that Adhahn could not have been incarcerated on May 31, 2000, for any violations relating to his 1990 Incest conviction. This factual and legal reality is best illustrated as follows: Adhahn is sentenced on September 4, 1990. CP 155. The sentencing court imposed a term at the top end of the standard range of fourteen months. *See* CP 153 and 155. As the Court of Appeals properly

recognized, by statute, the sentencing court could only impose a supervision and treatment term of two years. App. A at 18 (citing former RCW 9.94A.120(7)(a); *Onefrey*, 119 Wn.2d at 574-77). Had a two year supervision term been imposed and all other sentence provisions remained the same, the supervision term would have expired on November 4, 1992, (two years plus two months tolling while Adhahn was confined in the Pierce County Jail).

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